WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEADOCKET NO. 22-0378



BRIAN FRYE,

Appellant/Plaintiff Below,

V.

ERIE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellee/Defendant Below,

DO NOT REMOVE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia (Civil Action No. 19-C-52)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT/PLAINTIFF BELOW

JAMES G. BORDAS III (#8518)
RICHARD A. MONAHAN (#6489)
LUCA D. DIPIERO (#13756)
BORDAS & BORDAS, PLLC
1358 National Road
Wheeling, WV 26003
Telephone: (304) 242-8410
Fax: (304) 242-3936
jbordasiii@bordaslaw.com
ramonahan@bordaslaw.com
ldipiero@bordaslaw.com
Counsel for Appellant/Plaintiff below,
Brian Frye

I. Assignments of Error.

- 1. The Circuit Court committed a clear error of law affecting substantial justice by failing to address the constitutionality of W.Va. Code §§ 33-30-1, et seq., and by failing to interpret that statute in a manner that does not deprive the Plaintiff (and others similarly situated) of his constitutional rights to a remedy, due process, and equal protection of the law. These issues were raised by the Court and Plaintiff during the pretrial conference when the Defendant's motion for summary judgment was addressed. Yet the Court failed to rule upon the constitutionality of the statutory framework in its Order granting summary judgment to the Defendant. The resolution of this constitutional issue that is of substantial public importance is required in order to prevent an obvious injustice. Neither BRIM nor the West Virginia Legislature has taken any effective action in nearly 30 years to cure or adequately address the constitutional concerns of due process raised by this Court in *Higginbotham v. Clark*, 189 W.Va. 504, 510-11, 432 S.E.2d 774, 780-81 (1993).
- 2. The Circuit Court committed a clear legal error of law by denying the Plaintiff's motion to alter or amend its judgment on the basis that the Plaintiff had not presented any evidence in this civil action that his home had suffered mine subsidence damage when such ruling was not part of its Order granting summary judgment to Defendant and the Defendant did not file its own motion to alter or amend judgment to include such a ruling. Moreover, in addition to his own beliefs and opinions, the Plaintiff had presented an expert's opinions in support of his claim, and such expert had never been disqualified or the admissibility of his opinions otherwise limited by the trial court. Any other issues involving the expert's opinions would involve questions of weight or credibility that are for the jury to decide. It would constitute an obvious injustice to deny Plaintiff's motion to alter or amend the judgment on grounds that were neither relied upon by the

Circuit Court in its Order granting summary to Defendant that was the basis of its final judgment nor are accurate in light of the evidence of record.

3. Even if the Circuit Court's Order granting summary judgment to Erie could be reasonably construed to include as a basis for its ruling the failure of the Plaintiff to offer evidence of mine subsidence damages, the Court committed clear error of law in granting summary judgment and an abuse of discretion in interpreting the facts and evidence of record. In addition to his own beliefs and opinions, the Plaintiff had presented an expert's opinions in support of his claim, and such expert had never been disqualified or the admissibility of his opinions otherwise limited by the trial court. Any other issues involving the expert's opinions would involve questions of weight or credibility that are for the jury to decide. It would constitute an obvious injustice to grant summary judgment or deny Plaintiff's motion to alter or amend the judgment on grounds that were neither accurate in light of the actual evidence of record nor supported by adequate findings of fact and conclusions of law in the Court's Orders that would permit meaningful appellate review.

II. Statement of the Case.

Upon believing that his home had sustained damage due to mine subsidence (*see* Frye JA, at pp. 0483-87, 0496-97, 0499-500) and obtaining counsel for representation, the Plaintiff, through his attorneys, contacted both his insurer, Erie Insurance Property and Casualty Company ("Erie"), and the West Virginia Board of Risk and Insurance Management ("BRIM") in November 2017 concerning his claim for mine subsidence coverage. However, BRIM re-directed him to his insurer, Erie, as the party that would be responsible for handling and paying his claim. As expressly stated by BRIM:

We are in receipt of your November 21, 2017 letter of representation of Mr. Frye for potential mining related damages to his property.

We cannot provide you with a copy of Mr. Frye's insurance policy as we do not insure Mr. Frye and have no policy to provide. Based on the information contained in your letter, it would appear that Mr. Frye is insured through Erie Insurance Company. As such, you need to present a claim to Erie for consideration; and it is Erie that will need to provide you with a copy of the policy.

While the West Virginia Board of Risk and Insurance Management (BRIM) does play a role in the mine subsidence claim process, it is not a direct insurer of Mr. Frye's property. BRIM's role can be found at W.Va. Code §33-30-1 *et seq.* and W.Va. CSR §115-1. BRIM basically serves as a reinsurer for Erie and any payment to Mr. Frye for mine subsidence related damages will come from Erie and not BRIM.

I did note a copy of your letter being sent to Erie. Please submit your claim to Erie and they will present it to us with documentation that Mr. Frye does have mine subsidence coverage on his policy. We will hold your letter and place it with the claim information when received from Erie.

(Frye JA, at p. 0364). BRIM never offered the Plaintiff a hearing and an opportunity to establish a record for an administrative appeal under the West Virginia Administrative Procedure Act, W.Va. Code §§ 29A-5-1, et seq. In fact, no mention was expressed in the letter by BRIM about the insured being permitted to present evidence and to have a hearing on his claim for mine subsidence coverage before BRIM, Erie, or any other entity, or to seek administrative or judicial review of any determination made by BRIM or Erie pursuant to the West Virginia Administrative Procedure Act, W.Va. Code §§ 29A-5-1, et seq., or otherwise. Based upon such representations by BRIM, the Plaintiff believed that his only recourse was against Erie, his insurer.

Similarly, on December 7, 2017, when Erie acknowledged by correspondence Plaintiff's claim for mine subsidence, nowhere in its letter did it state that it was not responsible for handling the claim or paying any benefits that may be owed under the policy. In fact, nowhere in its letter does Erie ever even mention BRIM or any other entity being responsible. (Frye JA, at pp.0357-62). The only initial mention of BRIM by Erie is when Erie sent correspondence to Mr. Frye,

dated December 12, 2017, advising him that it had "submitted an assignment to BRIM to investigate the cause of the loss to the insured policy." (Frye JA, at p. 0366).

The Plaintiff was eventually informed that his claim for mine subsidence coverage was being denied in October, 2018. On February 21, 2019, the Plaintiff filed a civil lawsuit seeking compensatory and punitive damages against Erie for breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, i.e., bad faith, and for violations of the West Virginia Unfair Trade Practices Act, W.Va. Code §§ 33-11-1, et seq., and corresponding Insurance Commissioner's Regulations. (Frye JA, at pp. 0008-13). On March 29, 2019, in its Answer to Plaintiff's Complaint, Erie asserted as its Seventeenth Defense the following: "Erie asserts that pursuant to W.Va. Code § 33-30-3, W.Va. Code § 33-30-3(1), and W.Va. C.S.R. § 115-1-4.1, et seq., it is statutorily required to follow BRIM's determination that the Plaintiff's mine subsidence claim should be denied. As such, there can be no bad faith or breach of contract on the part of Erie." (Frye JA, at pp. 0019-20).

Subsequently, on June 17, 2021, Plaintiff received Erie's motion for judgment on the pleadings wherein it alleged "Plaintiff can prove no set of facts that support his claims against Erie wherein BRIM, not Erie, investigated and denied Plaintiff's claims for property damage allegedly resulting from mine subsidence." (Frye JA, at p. 0023 (citing *Patterson v. Westfield Ins. Co.*, 5:19-cv-17 (N.D.W.Va. Jan. 29, 2021) (Bailey, J.))). After receiving Plaintiff's response (Frye JA, at pp. 0112-22) and Erie's reply (Frye JA at pp. 0173-76), the Circuit Court on July 8, 2021, entered an Order denying Erie's motion for judgment on the pleadings that held, in part:

Plaintiff claims that such contractual and UTPA obligations by Defendant Erie cannot be delegated to BRIM and that Defendant Erie has its own obligations toward its insured despite an[y] statutory duties to investigate and cover claims per statute. This Court agrees with Plaintiff.

"A claim for breach of contract requires proof of the formation of a contract, a breach of the terms of that contract, and resulting damages." *Sneberger v. Morrison*, 235 W.Va. 654, 669, 776 S.E.2d 156, 171 (2015).

An insurance company owes its own policyholders a duty of good faith and fair dealing. [. . .] More importantly, these duties are not delegable[.]" *Honaker v. Mahon*, 210 W.Va. 53, 552 S.E.2d 788 (2001). Consistent with the decisions of West Virginia's state and federal courts, an insurer's delegating investigatory tasks to a third-party, by statutory mandate or otherwise, "does not relieve [an insurer] of its obligations to its insureds." *See Patterson v. State Farm*, CV No. 18-C-226 at 5 (W.Va. Dist.Ct. March 4, 2019) ("the allegations against [defendant insurer] in the Complaint stem from its obligations to its insureds in regard to the claims they have made under their homeowner's insurance policy – not merely the mine subsidence portion of the policy."); *Bettinazzi v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 2014 WL 241694, at *2 (N.D.W.Va. Jan. 22, 2014); *Megale v. State Farm*, CV No. 18-C-290 at 8 (W.Va. Cir.Ct. July 26, 2019) (denying insurer's motion to dismiss) ([The defendant insurer's] "trying to state that its duties of good faith and fair dealing owed to its insureds are delegable . . . is in contravention to established principles and standards.").

Defendant Erie's citation to *Patterson v. Westfield Ins. Co.*, 5:19-cv-17 (N.D.W.Va. Jan. 29, 2021) is misplaced. *Patterson* does not support judgment on the pleadings as the *Patterson* decision was rendered based upon "consideration of the record as a whole" after extensive discovery had taken place. *Id.*,at *11. *Patterson* did not suggest that a plaintiff could "prove no set of facts in support of his or her claim" merely by virtue of an insurer's delegating a mine subsidence investigation to BRIM. *See* Syl. Pt. 3, *Copley [v. Mingo County Bd. of Educ.*, 195 W.Va. 480, 466 S.E.2d 139 (1995).]

While BRIM retains statutory authority to investigate and deny claims related to mine subsidence endorsements pursuant to W. Va. Code, § 33-30-1 et seq., BRIM's role does not nullify Erie's obligation to its insured to reasonably investigate all claims arising under its homeowners insurance policies such that would render any breach of contract claim legally inoperative. Plaintiff has adequately set forth factual allegations supporting viable claims for breach of contract as well as common law and statutory bad faith.

(Frye JA, at pp. 0187-89).

During the course of the litigation, the parties engaged in discovery and Plaintiff retained an expert in geophysics/geology, Dr. Timothy Bechtel, PhD, PG, who examined the damages to Plaintiff's property and opined "to a reasonable degree of professional certainty that the subsidence from underground mining contributed to damages to the house and land compromising Mr. Frye's

property." (Frye JA, at p. 0441). Further, the Plaintiff's allegations against Erie stemmed not only from the denial of Plaintiff's claim under his homeowner's insurance policy and Erie's handling of the claim brought under the policy, but also, Erie's overall conduct as it relates to the Plaintiff's mine subsidence claim. Contrary to Erie's assertions that BRIM, not Erie, investigated and denied Plaintiff's claims for property damage, Plaintiff asserts that BRIM's participation in the mine subsidence investigation did not absolve Erie from complying with its obligations as Plaintiff's insurer under the standards articulated by common law, the West Virginia Unfair Trade Practices Act, and the Insurance Commissioner's Regulations. (See Frye JA, at pp. 0284-305).

On February 10, 2022, Erie filed a motion for summary judgment on all claims pursuant to Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. (Frye JA, at pp. 0190-204). Said motion was briefed by the parties (Frye JA, at pp. 0284-305 & 0795-813), and the motion was argued along with other motions during a pretrial conference held before the Court on February 28, 2022 (Frye JA, at pp. 0887-958).

During said conference, when the Court indicated that its interpretation of the statutory framework set forth in W.Va. Code §§ 33-30-1 et seq., and supporting regulations, such as 115 W.V.C.S.R. 1—4.1, when read in conjunction with the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals' decision in *Higginbotham v. Clark*, 189 W.Va. 504, 432 S.E.2d 774 (1993), might lead the Court to conclude that the Plaintiff could not assert any of his claims concerning mine subsidence coverage against Erie, the issue of whether such a construction of the statute would render it unconstitutional due to a deprivation of the Plaintiff's right to a remedy was raised and discussed. Additionally, constructions of the statute that Plaintiff submitted would permit his lawsuit to proceed and provide him a remedy were also discussed. (Frye JA, at pp. 0903-07 & 0921-35).

By Order entered on March 3, 2022, the Circuit Court of Ohio County, the Honorable Jason

Cuomo presiding, granted summary judgment to Erie on the basis that Erie is only an agent of BRIM under W.Va. Code §§ 33-30-1, et seq., and cannot be sued for any of the claims involving denial of mine subsidence coverage alleged by Plaintiffs. In its Order granting summary judgment, the Court held that its interpretation of the statutory framework set forth in W.Va. Code §§ 33-30-1 et seq., and supporting regulations, such as 115 W.V.C.S.R. 1—4.1, when read in conjunction with the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals' decision in Higginbotham v. Clark, supra, led the Court to conclude that the Plaintiff could not assert any of his claims concerning mine subsidence coverage against his insurer, Erie. Importantly, for the purpose of this appeal, the lower court did not grant Erie summary judgment in this case on Plaintiff's claims concerning mine subsidence coverage because the Plaintiff did not present any evidence that his damages were caused by mine subsidence coverage. Rather, the lower court granted summary judgment to Erie on Plaintiff's mine subsidence coverage claims due to its conclusion that Plaintiff had no remedy against Erie, his insurer, for such claims because under the relevant statutory framework set forth in W.Va. Code §§ 33-30-1, et seq., and supporting regulations, BRIM, rather than Erie, controlled all decisions as to such coverage. (Frye JA, at pp. 0834-41).¹

Following the entry of a Final Judgment Order on March 29, 2022 (Frye JA, at p. 0842), the Plaintiff filed a motion to alter or amend the final judgment on March 30, 2022, arguing that the Court committed a clear error of law, the resolution of which is required to prevent obvious injustice, by failing to address the constitutionality of W.Va. Code §§ 33-30-1, et seq., and by failing to interpret that statute in a manner that does not deprive the Plaintiff (and others similarly situated) of his constitutional rights to a remedy, due process, and equal protection of the law.

¹ While the Circuit Court did grant summary judgment on Plaintiff's claims concerning coverages other than mine subsidence coverage on the basis of a lack of evidence, *see* Frye JA, at pp. 0838-41, such rulings are not the subject of Plaintiff's motion to alter or amend judgment or this appeal.

(Frye JA, at pp. 0843-55). After said motion was fully briefed by the parties (Frye JA, at pp. 0857-69 & 0871-82), on April 18, 2022, the Court essentially entered the proposed order submitted by Defendant, with minor modifications, and denied the Plaintiff's motion to alter or amend the judgment; declining to address the constitutional issues and holding for the first time incorrectly that the Plaintiff had not presented any evidence that his home had been damaged by mine subsidence. (See Frye JA, at pp. 0884-86). Adding such a finding was totally inappropriate because it was not the subject of Plaintiff's motion to alter or amend judgment, and the Defendant did not submit its own motion to alter or amend judgment seeking the inclusion of such a finding and conclusion. Accordingly, such issue was not argued by the Plaintiff in its motion to alter or amend judgment or in its supporting reply brief. (See Frye JA, at pp. 0843-55 & 0871-82).

III. Summary of Argument.

A. Assignment of Error No. 1: The Circuit Court committed a clear error of law affecting substantial justice by failing to address the constitutionality of W.Va. Code §§ 33-30-1, et seq., and by failing to interpret that statute in a manner that does not deprive the Plaintiff (and others similarly situated) of his constitutional rights to a remedy, due process, and equal protection of the law.

Erie's motion for summary judgment was discussed and argued during the pretrial conference held before the Circuit Court on February 28, 2022. (Frye JA, at pp. 0896-35). When Judge Cuomo indicated during the conference, in an apparent potential departure from his earlier ruling denying Erie's motion for judgment on the pleadings, that his interpretation of the statutory framework set forth in W.Va. Code §§ 33-30-1 et seq., and supporting regulations, such as 115 W.V.C.S.R. 1—4.1, when read in conjunction with the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals' decision in *Higginbotham v. Clark*, supra, might lead the Court to conclude that the Plaintiff could not assert any of his claims concerning mine subsidence coverage against Erie, the issue of whether such a construction of the statute would render it unconstitutional due to a deprivation of the

Plaintiff's right to a remedy was raised and discussed. Additionally, constructions of the statute that Plaintiff submitted would permit his lawsuit to proceed and provide him a remedy were also discussed. (See Frye JA, at pp. 0903-07 & 0921-35).

By Order entered on March 3, 2022, the Court indeed held that its interpretation of the statutory framework set forth in W.Va. Code §§ 33-30-1 et seq., and supporting regulations, such as 115 W.V.C.S.R. 1—4.1, when read in conjunction with the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals' decision in Higginbotham v. Clark, supra, led the Court to conclude that the Plaintiff could not assert any of his claims concerning mine subsidence coverage against his insurer, Eric. (Frye JA, at 0834-38). In so ruling, the Court failed to address the argument that such a ruling would be unconstitutional by depriving the Plaintiff of his rights to a remedy, due process, and/or equal protection. The Circuit Court also failed to address reasonable constructions of the statute that would permit Plaintiff's claims concerning mine subsidence damages to proceed and, thereby, sustain the constitutionality of the statute. These omissions by the lower court led the Plaintiff to file a W.Va.R.Civ.P. 59(e) motion to alter or amend judgment that after briefing was denied by the Court without discussing the substantive merits of such concerns. (See Frye JA, at pp. 0843-86).

Numerous cases of this Court establish a citizen's constitutional rights to a remedy, due process, and equal protection of the law. Further, this Court has recognized that the right to file a claim for breach of an insurance policy is a constitutionally protected property right. Indeed, nearly thirty years ago this Court in *Higginbotham* raised serious constitutional due-process concerns over the applicable statutory framework potentially depriving insureds of a right to a remedy. Despite these concerns, neither BRIM nor the West Virginia Legislature has taken effective actions to address such matters. This Court has also repeatedly stressed that canons of

statutory construction require courts when reasonably possible to interpret a statute in a manner that sustains its constitutionality.

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