WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS DOCKET NO. 22-0378

BRIAN FRYE,

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner,

v.

ERIE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant Below, Respondent.

DO NOT REMOVE

On Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Ohio County (Civil Action No. 19-C-52)

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ERIE INSURANCE COMPANY

Amy M. Smith (WV Bar # 6454) STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC 400 White Oaks Boulevard Bridgeport, WV 26330 (304) 933-8000 amy.smith@steptoe-johnson.com

Melanie Morgan Norris (WV Bar # 8581) STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC 1233 Main Street, Suite 3000 Wheeling, WV 26003 (304) 231-0460 melanie.norris@steptoe-johnson.com

Counsel for Respondent Erie Insurance Company

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

In any event, contrary to Mr. Frye's argument, the regulations provide a remedy of arbitration against BRIM that Mr. Frye has failed to acknowledge. Accordingly, the Circuit Court properly declined to address a facial challenge to the statutory scheme.

2. The Circuit Court did not conclude that the mine subsidence insurance statutory scheme prohibits claims against an insurer for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing or common law bad faith, or violations of the UTPA.

The Circuit Court did not conclude that the mine subsidence insurance statutory scheme prohibits claims against an insurer for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing or common law bad faith, or violations of the UTPA. As discussed above, during the pretrial conference the Circuit Court understood that Erie was not arguing that insurers could never be liable for their own conduct relating to mine subsidence claims. The Circuit Court further noted that insurers could still be liable for fraud or delay before transferring the claim to BRIM. A.R. 922.

Accordingly, the order granting summary judgment determined that there are circumstances under which an insurer can be held liable in the handling of a mine subsidence claim, but the Circuit Court found that none of those circumstances exist in this case:

Once an insured notifies an insurer of a policy claim for mine subsidence damage and the insurer transfers the claim to BRIM for its handling (pursuant to W. Va. Code § 33-30-1, et seq. and the regulations enacted pursuant thereto), may an insured maintain a valid breach of contract action against the insurer for BRIM's denial of the mine subsidence claim and/or for valid "bad faith" claims against the insurer (i.e., violations of UTPA, substantially prevailed, etc.)?

This Court answers in the negative. Absent (1) fraud, (2) any wrongful conduct occurring between the time of receiving notice of a mine subsidence claim and transferring the claim to BRIM (e.g., delay in transferring the case to BRIM), and/or (3) any wrongful handling of claims other than mine subsidence, an action for breach of contract may not be maintained against insurer per W. Va. Code § 33-30-1, et seq. and the regulations enacted pursuant thereto. In this case, because the Plaintiff has presented insufficient evidence which create genuine issues of material fact for a jury to decide on any of the above three scenarios, Plaintiff's breach of contract claims, as well as his extra contractual claims (as discussed further below) must be dismissed.

A.R. 834-835.

Following this summary of its conclusion, the Circuit Court performed an extensive analysis of each of Mr. Frye's claims as follows:

In the case at bar, it appears clear to this Court that Plaintiff's breach of contract claims for *mine subsidence* coverage against Defendant Erie cannot be maintained. Only BRIM had the authority to investigate and approve Plaintiff's claim for mine subsidence coverage. BRIM concluded that there was no evidence of mine subsidence and denied Plaintiff's claim for mine subsidence coverage. Defendant Erie had no authority to approve and pay Plaintiff's claim for mine subsidence, even if determined to be valid, and as such, there can be no breach of contract by Defendant Erie. For as unfair as that may seem, this is the statutory scheme developed by the West Virginia Legislature and our Supreme Court of Appeals, at least in *Higginbotham* [v. Clarke, 189 W. Va. 504, 432 S.E.2d 774 (1993)], appears to have gone along with such a scheme.

. . .

Given that this Court has found that the Plaintiff cannot present his breach of contract claims on mine subsidence coverage ..., Plaintiff likewise cannot present a standalone claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. In other words, because Plaintiff's breach of contract claims have failed, so too must his claims for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

...

In the case at bar, Plaintiff has presented insufficient evidence of potential violations of the UTPA by Defendant Erie. While it is true that Erie waited several months between receiving Mr. Bragg's engineering report and producing a copy of the report to the Plaintiff, the only evidence presented to this Court was that it was BRIM, not Defendant Erie, who controlled the investigation and coverage decision.

The evidence reflects that Defendant Erie waited for the results of BRIM's investigation before providing Mr. Bragg's report. The Plaintiff has not pointed this Court to any authority that Defendant Erie was required to produce a copy of its independent engineer's report to the insured while the investigation was still pending. Similarly, the fact that Defendant Erie asked its engineer to elaborate upon the potential "other causes" of the complained damage is not indicative of bad faith. The engineer had already opined that the damage was not caused by mine subsidence. It was reasonable for the carrier to further investigate what did cause the damage if not mine subsidence. The other bases upon which the Plaintiff alleges bad faith all relate back to Plaintiff's premise that his claim for mine subsidence should have been paid. As noted above, only BRIM could approve and pay Plaintiff's claim for mine subsidence. There is no evidence that

Defendant Erie violated any provisions of the UTPA in its handling of the claim while waiting for the results of BRIM's investigation and claim determination.

A.R. 837-841.

Mr. Frye misconstrues two truncated phrases from two sections of the statutory scheme to support his argument. For example, § 33-30-12 provides that BRIM has a right of recourse for fraud by an insurer "and [that] the insurer may settle losses in the customary manner consistent with this article." Contrary to Mr. Frye's argument, the only manner that an insurer may settle losses consistent with the mine subsidence insurance statutory scheme is for the insurer to follow the procedures for administration of claims in § 115-1-4.1, including specifically the claims handling procedures in Appendix D, which provide as follows:

- 1) The insured should report the possibility of Coal Mine Subsidence damage directly to the Company or his/her Authorized Agent.
- 2) Upon notice of a potential Coal Mine Subsidence claim, the Company shall immediately forward a completed ACCORD claim form (or other appropriate Company claim form) to the Board at the address provided on the Board's website at http://www.brim.wv.gov.

In addition to the claim form, the Company is required to furnish the Board with a copy of the policy declaration page or other documentation showing the amount of Coal Mine Subsidence Insurance purchased by the insured applicable to the damaged structure.

- 3) The board will then assign the claim to an independent adjusting firm for investigation. The adjusting cost of the independent firm will be paid directly by the Board.
- 4) The adjusting firm will report directly back to the Board with copies of all correspondence to the Company.
- 5) All payment authorizations will come from the Board. No reinsurance will be available for claims paid by the Company without prior approval from the Board.
- 6) After the Company has made an authorized payment to its insured, the Company should remit to the Board a copy of the draft ad settlement papers, including subrogation receipt, if available, for reimbursement from the West Virginia Coal Mine Subsidence fund.

W. Va. Code R. § 115-1, app. D.

Mr. Frye's reliance on § 33-30-10 is equally misplaced. Although § 33-30-10(b) provides in part that an "insured shall be deemed to have waived any cause of action for damages caused by subsidence to the extent of the payment from the fund," under the first part of that provision in § 33-30-10(a) all payments from the fund come through BRIM. See id. ("the board shall ... pay the insurer all amounts due out of the fund"); see also W. Va. Code R. § 115-1, app. D (5) ("All payment authorizations will come from the Board. No reinsurance will be available for claims paid by the Company without prior approval from the Board."). Mr. Frye essentially argues that the negative implication of § 33-30-10 is that an insured does not waive a cause of action for damages caused by subsidence to the extent not paid by the fund. Assuming arguendo that much is true, § 33-30-10 does not suggest that any such cause of action would be against the insurer instead of BRIM, which is the only entity that can authorize and approve payments to an insured. The only cause of action that § 33-30-10 could be read to authorize against an insurer would be for amounts due out of the fund paid by BRIM to the insurer but withheld by the insurer from the insured. Manifestly, § 33-30-10 does not support Mr. Frye's claims against Erie in this action.

Bettinazzi v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., No. 5:13cv116, 2014 WL 241694 (N.D. W. Va. 2014), also does not support Mr. Frye's argument. In Bettinazzi, which denied a motion to dismiss a breach of contract claim, the Northern District of West Virginia held:

The plaintiffs asserted that they maintained an insurance policy with the defendant and paid the premiums for such policy to the defendant, thus, asserting the existence of a valid contract. The plaintiffs then argue that the defendant breached this insurance contract by failing to compensate the plaintiffs for damages, which they assert are covered under the policy. Accordingly, based on the plaintiffs' complaint, this Court finds that the plaintiffs have stated a valid claim for breach of contract. While the defendant seems to argue that it was not

the party to breach the contract, this Court finds based on the complaint, it cannot make such determination at this time.

Id. at *2 (emphasis added).

As discussed above, the Northern District of West Virginia rejected a similar argument regarding the reach of the holding in *Bettinazzi* in *Patterson*. In *Patterson*, the court relied on *Higginbotham* and explained that summary judgment for the defendant was entirely consistent with its prior decision in *Bettinazzi* because based on the record as a whole the defendant had no authority to decide whether or not claims were paid as a matter of law. *Patterson*, 516 F. Supp. 3d at 564. Because the plaintiff's claims were all premised on BRIM's denial of his mine subsidence claim, which the defendant could not control, summary judgment was appropriate for the defendant. *Id.* at 464–466. ¹⁰

In this action, the Circuit Court individually analyzed Mr. Frye's claims for breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing or bad faith, and violations of the UTPA as it relates to Mr. Frye's mine subsidence coverage and also other coverages under his homeowner's policy. Mr. Frye does not dispute the holding with regard to other coverages. Pet. Br. at 7 n.1. Nor does he dispute the holdings that Erie committed no fraud and that Erie engaged in no wrongful conduct between the time of receiving notice of the mine subsidence claim and transferring it to BRIM. Pet. Br. 31. Mr. Frye has never suggested that BRIM paid moneys out of the fund to Erie that Erie withheld from Mr. Frye. Because Mr. Frye's only remaining claims at issue are premised on BRIM's denial of his mine subsidence claim, which Erie cannot control as a matter of law, the Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment to Erie.

¹⁰ Moreover, footnote 8 of *Honaker v. Mahon*, 210 W. Va. 53, 552 S.E.2d 788 (2001), which is cited by Mr. Frye, is inapposite. *Honaker* observed in *dicta* that an insurer's duty of good faith and fair dealing is not delegable to agents of the insurance company. *Id.*, 552 S.E.2d at 797 n.8. Regardless, *Higginbotham* held that under the mine subsidence insurance statutory scheme "the insurer acts merely as an agent of the state and is bound by the Board's decisions," 432 S.E.2d at 780, not vice versa.

The Circuit Court did not opine on Mr. Frye's proffered evidence of mine subsidence.¹¹

The order granting summary judgment did not opine on Mr. Frye's proffered evidence of mine subsidence because such evidence was not relevant to the grounds upon which the Circuit Court based its decision as a matter of law. Erie filed a motion *in limine* to exclude Mr. Frye's expert witnesses. A.R. 629. During the final pretrial conference, the motion *in limine* was discussed as follows:

MS NORRIS: To some extent it goes hand in hand with our motion for summary judgment. Plaintiff has designated two expert witnesses. One is Timothy Bechtel, I believe a geologist. And one is Mr. Bordas' brother-in-law, Bob Contraguerro, who works for Panhandle and does — I guess he does estimates for repair in addition to clean-up work. And Mr. Bechtel has been designated to offer testimony concerning the investigation of mine subsidence. So we have two objections to the presentation of Mr. Bechtel's testimony, the first of which is that he really is not qualified under Rule 702 because he has never been to Mr. Frye's home. He has never inspected the home or the yard. He is relying on his review of the three reports —

. . .

MS NORRIS: ... The second basis for the objection, and it's the same as Mr. Contraguerro, is that any testimony by Bechtel that there is mine subsidence or by Mr. Contraguerro concerning how much it costs to fix the mine subsidence is completely irrelevant because the decision of mine subsidence should not be submitted to the jury.

THE COURT: Well, we can handle that if and when I decide – if I decide that Erie can be sued for I guess BRIM's wrongful denial, then I would probably answer the question of relevancy ... So for now it's deferred.

A.R. 938-939. See A.R. 930 (making a similar argument in the discussion on summary judgment).

The Circuit Court properly deferred ruling on the admissibility of Mr. Frye's proffered evidence of mine subsidence because it granted summary judgment to Erie.

¹¹ This argument addresses Mr. Frye's third assignment of error.

C. The Circuit Court Properly Denied Mr. Frye's Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgement.

The Circuit Court properly denied Mr. Frye's motion to alter or amend the judgment under West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e). This Court has recognized that relief under Rule 59(e) is an extraordinary remedy that should be used sparingly. Mey v. Pep Boys-Manny, Moe & Jack, 228 W. Va. 48, 56, 717 S.E.2d 235, 244 (2011). In Mey, this Court held:

A motion under Rule 59(e) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure should be granted where: (1) there is an intervening change in controlling law; (2) new evidence not previously available comes to light; (3) it becomes necessary to remedy a clear error of law or (4) to prevent obvious injustice.

Id. at Syl. Pt. 2.

The Court explained as follows:

A Rule 59(e) motion may be used to correct manifest errors of law or fact, or to present newly discovered evidence. See In re Transtexas Gas Corp., 303 F.3d 571 (5th Cir. 2002). A motion under Rule 59(e) is not appropriate for presenting new legal arguments, factual contentions, or claims that could have previously been argued. See Freeman v. Busch, 349 F.3d 582 (8th Cir. 2003) ("Arguments and evidence which could, and should, have been raised at an earlier time in the proceedings cannot be presented in a Rule 59(e) motion."); Holland v. Big River Minerals Corp., 181 F.3d 597, 605-606 (4th Cir. 1999) (issue presented for first time in Rule 59(e) motion is not timely raised); Sault Ste. Marie Tribe of Chippewa Indians v. Engler, 146 F.3d 367, 374 (6th Cir. 1998) (Rule 59(e) motion cannot raise arguments that were not raised prior to judgment); Santiago v. Canon U.S.A., Inc., 138 F.3d 1, 3-4 (1st Cir. 1998) (new legal theory as to liability may not be raised in motion for reconsideration); Stone v. Wall, 135 F.3d 1438, 1441-1442 (11th Cir. 1998) (argument that law of other jurisdiction should have applied could not be raised in Rule 59(e) motion); Global Network Techs., Inc. v. Regional Airport Auth., 122 F.3d 661, 665-666 (8th Cir. 1997) (evidence that could have been introduced prior to judgment may not be offered through Rule 59(e) motion).

Id., 717 S.E.2d at 243.

In this action, Mr. Frye filed a motion to alter or amend judgment raising two legal arguments: "I. The Court Failed to Address Whether the Statutory Scheme Set Forth in W. Va.

Code §§ 33-30-1, et seq. Establishing BRIM's Role in Mine Subsidence Cases is Unconstitutional," A.R. at 843, and "II. The Court Committed an Error of Law in Concluding that the Relevant Statute and Regulations Expressly Prohibit an Insured from Suing Their Insurer for Breach of Contract, Bad Faith/Breach of Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing, and Unfair Trade Practices." A.R. 852. The Circuit Court rejected both arguments, reasoning:

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